







Mapping the Jordanian Learner Journey

Full Report

Piers Wall, Rishma Dattani and Alan Weale

On behalf of the Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education, UK

Supported by the British Council and in collaboration with the Accreditation and Quality Assurance Commission for Higher Education Institutions (AQACHEI) in Jordan and the Cotswold Research Consultancy

Contents

Preamble	1
Executive summary	3
Introduction	5
Methodology	7
Background and context	7
Context for the UK student journey	8
The UK student journey	. 11
Context for the Jordanian student journey	.24
The Jordanian student journey	.25
Gap analysis/Comparison of the Jordanian learner journey and the UK learner journey	. 33
Recommendations	.42
Next steps	.51
Conclusion	.51
References	. 53
Appendix	. 59

Preamble

May Abuhamdia Deputy Director, British Council, Jordan

This report comes as part of the British Council Global Higher Education programme and the strand of enhancing student outcomes. To support this objective, the British Council works with higher education institutions and other relevant higher education bodies to improve the prospects for students and, ultimately, maintain relevance of universities to their local and global contexts.



In Jordan, the British Council has developed a Theory of Change programme that is geared towards enhanced student outcomes. This programme has been defined as the Pathway to Renewed Engagement Through a Partnership Approach to Raising Employability (PREPARE). PREPARE represents all our local tertiary education programming that aims to support Jordanian tertiary education institutions to produce graduates for the global economy.

This report, *Mapping the Jordanian Learner Journey*, is an essential first step in the wider British Council Pathway to Renewed Engagement Through a Partnership Approach to Raising Employability (PREPARE) programme. The key objectives of the programme are as follows:

- An active network of employers, higher education institutions, training providers and government institutions working together.
- Skills development aligns with national and global employment opportunities.
- Graduates have access to and use of relevant and recognised employment-related qualifications, information and skills.
- Current and future employment prospects of young people are increased.
- Businesses improve their competitiveness through having a skilled workforce.
- Youth economic resilience and strengthened national human resource capital.

The programme has identified three key areas that can support the achievement of these objectives:

- the regulatory framework/tools that need to be in place the National Qualifications Framework
- higher education's role and responsibility in providing employment-ready graduates
- the essential role of partnership between institutions, employers and industry in skills development and work-integrated learning.

This study was focused on higher education's role and responsibility in providing employment-ready graduates. The scope of work was designed to consider higher education from the Jordanian students' perspective. As such, the study placed the students at the centre of higher education and reviewed an 'ideal' student journey incorporating guidance from the UK Quality Code for Higher Education and the European Standards and Guidelines for higher education, and by comparing a small sample of public and private universities in Jordan. The journey begins with the information and support received prior to university to inform choices of programmes and institution, and ends with the transition from graduation to employment. The specific outputs of this report include a gap analysis of the existing systems in Jordan when compared to the 'ideal' learner journey. Key to informing next steps, the mapping provides clear recommendations that are sensitive to and mindful of the context of higher education and employment in Jordan, citing best practice examples to clearly demonstrate the potential of each activity. Finally, the report can also serve as a baseline to measure the impact of future activities and developments.

The key outcome of this report is the allocation of roles and responsibilities for universities, regulatory bodies, employers, parents and students for each stage of the journey. This can effectively inform the development and prioritisation of future activities that can support progress towards the achievement of the wider PREPARE programme objectives.

Professor Thafer Y Assaraira Chairman of the Higher Education Accreditation and Quality Assurance Commission

The philosophy of the Higher Education Accreditation and Quality Assurance Commission stems from the vision of His Majesty King Abdullah II pertaining to the need to continuously develop higher education institutions. This development is essential as it can help these institutions keep pace with global advancements while preserving the national identity and the foundations of the Jordanian society, whose renaissance began with the start of the Great Arab Revolution and the establishment of the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan.



The Commission has continuously monitored the performance of higher education institutions, especially the quality of teaching and the learning outcomes. This monitoring process is important due to its role in acquiring advanced knowledge that can aid such intuitions in their pursuit of excellence. The Commission's follow-ups have branched out and its work increased to keep up with the activities of higher education institutions, especially when they launch new programs and re-evaluate their existing programs to keep pace with their competitors. This requires expanding the range of accreditation and quality, reviewing courses, attracting students, developing online learning, and enhancing scientific research and programs.

Since the issuance of the National Qualifications Framework System on 17 February 2019 in the Official Gazette, the Commission has designed two plans; the first is strategic while the second is operational, aiming to implement the above framework. In light of this, the Commission approved general descriptions for all levels - academic, professional and technical. Policies and outputs were also drawn up according to which the National Qualifications Framework would be applied. In addition, the Commission will soon be establishing standards for institutional inclusion and housing qualifications. The British Council, QAA and Cotswold Research Consultancy have been valuable partners in supporting our work in this area. This report is a direct result of that partnership and a key step towards meeting the requirements of the labour market. Mapping the Jordanian Learner Journey provides a unique insight into the Jordanian learner's experience from pre-Tawjihi stage through university, to graduation and employment. It highlights, not only the challenges faced by our learners in Jordan, but also Jordanian best practice. Our international partnership provides a valuable opportunity to share international and national best practice, to inform the development of a platform and identify additional activities to continue progress in addressing the employability of graduates in Jordan.

Executive summary

This report focuses on the study of the learning experience of higher education students through their life cycle from pre-admissions to graduation and employment.

It focuses on the typical university student journey in Jordan (distinguishing between public and private universities where appropriate) and compares this with the typical journey of a university student in the UK. It is important to note that only four Jordanian universities¹ formed part of this exploratory study. A gap analysis of the two journeys assesses the impact on the Jordanian student experience with reference to the *Education for Prosperity: Delivering Results - A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025* (HRD)² and to the *Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area* (ESG).³

Four stages of the journey are compared:

- Transition towards higher education: Pre-arrival and admission
- Transition to higher education: Commencing and preparing to study
- Transition through higher education: Progressing through the learning journey
- Transition out of higher education: Graduation and employability.

The report also outlines the context for the student journey in both Jordan and the UK considering the key stakeholders, processes and practices.

The UK student journey shows universities engaging with students and schools through activities such as open days, outreach visits and talks. Students also have a significant amount of data on university courses and graduate employment to help them choose the course and university at which they wish to study.

UK students have a full managed induction programme and have communication with the university prior to starting.

The courses they study embed employability in all aspects of the course from programme development through to curriculum, delivery and assessment. Stakeholders from industry are involved in these aspects and also in the opportunities students have in placements and internships. Learning outcomes are embedded in all aspects of course development and delivery, including assessments, which involve a range of task types.

Teaching and learning approaches have developed to allow for more student participation and the opportunity to develop soft skills, and academics have been offered training and staff development to support this. This helps ensure students have developed soft skills as well as knowledge when they graduate, through the embedding of their institution's graduate attributes.

The Jordanian student journey shows much less engagement with universities prior to starting their course. Engagement with universities is post-Tawjihi. The centralised admissions system places each student on a programme at university based solely on the grades achieved in the Tawjihi which limits the space, rationale and requirement for Jordanian universities to innovate and create opportunities to develop student experiences

¹ AQACHEI identified - two public (University of Jordan, Hashemite University) and two private (Al Aaliyah University, Princess Sumaya University Technology) - institutions that reflect international best practice.

² www.mohe.gov.jo/en/Documents/National-HRD-Strategy.pdf

³ https://enqa.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ESG_2015.pdf

and relationships at the pre-enrolment stage.⁴ As a result, students are less informed and less engaged in the process of selecting their programmes and universities.

There is an inconsistent approach to induction and for many students no engagement with their university until the start of the course.

While some courses have links to industry and some employers may be involved in their development, this is not the case for many courses. Where 'soft skills' development is available, it is usually an extra part of the course, rather than embedded in it. This and the lack of graduate attributes in many universities, means students may not be prepared for entering the workplace. While learning outcomes are found in programme development and modules, they are not applied to assessments which tend to be examination focused. Teaching and learning approaches are beginning to become more student centred but staff may lack training to help them develop.

A gap analysis is used to make a number of recommendations to help close the identified gap between graduate skills and employer need, and enhance employability options for graduates to enable them to contribute to the economic development of the country.

A summary of these recommendations is shown below:

- More and consistent engagement with students prior to application to ensure students are able to make informed decisions and build up relationships with potential universities.
- A consistent approach to induction to support students ensuring all students feel prepared.
- More engagement with employers and students in all aspects of a course from programme development through to assessment, to help ensure courses include skills employers need and give students the opportunity to develop and practise these.
- Embedding of employability and an approach to this from the start of the course linking this to the development of graduate attributes.
- Building capacity in staff through training to enhance teaching skills and enable them to consider employability in the development of curriculum and assessment.
- Developing consistency across the sector through the introduction of a mandatory requirement to follow the quality assurance process including a cycle of quality audits.

These recommendations would build on the initiatives taken so far and the goals for higher education identified in *A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025* (HRD).

⁴ Public universities in Jordan have no autonomy over which students will be admitted to the institution at which grades. The Centralised Admission System places the students on programmes within their institution based on the grades achieved through Tawjihi. Private universities have to agree their entrance requirements for the individual programmes with AQACHEI but have full autonomy over which students are accepted. Students apply directly to private universities.

Introduction

1 This report sets out the higher education landscape in Jordan and focuses on the learning experience of students through their life cycle from pre-admissions to graduation and employment. It considers the key stakeholders, processes, practices and ambitions of the country, and makes a number of recommendations aimed at improving the student journey and experience, with the aim of enhancing employability for graduates. The report is part of the follow up to the Knowledge Exchange Event delivered as part of the British Council PREPARE programme, where an initial gap analysis of the Jordanian student journey was outlined.

2 Working with the British Council in Jordan, Cotswold Research and Consultancy approached the Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education, UK (QAA) to conduct an exploratory study to develop a project proposal that maps the student learner journey for those attending Jordanian universities and the impact this has on graduate employability.

- 3 The key objectives this report seeks to address include:
- a snapshot of the current state regarding the governance of quality and delivery of higher education in Jordan, the parallel systems of quality assurance and licensing and accreditation, their status and connections
- gap analysis for the student experience within the Jordanian quality assurance system
- suggested workable solutions to address identified gaps
- identification of training needs for the quality regulators as well as the institutions.

4 The report sets out the higher education landscape in Jordan and focuses on the learning experience of students through their life cycle from pre-admissions to graduation and employment.

The report:

- considers the key stakeholders, processes, practices and ambitions of Jordan for higher education
- outlines a typical journey of a UK student studying at a university in the UK, a typical journey of a Jordanian student studying at a private university in Jordan, and a typical journey of a Jordanian student studying at a public university in Jordan
- compares these experiences using a gap analysis to assess the impact of these gaps and uses these to make recommendations to help close the gap between graduate skills and employer need
- makes a number of recommendations aimed at improving the student journey and experience, with the aim of enhancing employability for graduates
- aligns recommendations to the National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025 (HRD)⁵ commissioned by His Majesty King Abdullah II and the European Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ESG).⁶

⁵ Education for Prosperity: Delivering Results - A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025

⁶ https://enqa.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ESG_2015.pdf

Alignment with ESG

5 The National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025 (HRD) aims to develop an integrated educational system which 'invests in our citizen's education and training to create a generation of forward-looking young people who are equipped with the skills necessary to analyse, innovate and excel.¹⁷ The strategy states 'University climates are not conducive to positive educational outcomes, as they currently do not encourage students and faculty to modernize teaching and learning processes, engage in open dialogue, exchange new ideas or foster critical thinking.' It sets the context for change including areas relating to the student journey such as admissions, preparedness for university, quality assurance, teaching and learning, programmes, resources and the 'gaps...between educational outputs and the labour market.'⁸

6 The ESG 'are a set of standards and guidelines for internal and external quality assurance in higher education'⁹ and 'provide guidance, covering the areas which are vital for successful quality provision and learning environments in higher education'.¹⁰ They are used by institutions and agencies across the European Higher Education Area (EHEA) and have helped 'contribute to the common understanding of quality assurance for learning and teaching across borders and among all stakeholders.'¹¹

- 7 They recognise:
- the importance of higher education in socio-economic and cultural development
- the growth in diversity
- expectations for higher education to make a 'fundamental shift in its provision' requiring a 'more student-centred approach to learning and teaching, recognising flexible learning paths and recognising competences gained outside formal curricula'.¹²

	8	The ESG standards ¹³ cover the following areas.
--	---	--

1.1	Policy for Quality Assurance
1.2	Design and Approval of Programmes
1.3	Student-Centred Learning, Teaching and Assessment
1.4	Student Admission, Progression, Retention and Certification
1.5	Teaching Staff
1.6	Learning Resources and Student Support
1.7	Information Management
1.8	Public Information
1.9	On-Going Monitoring and Periodic Review of Programmes
1.10	Cyclical External Quality Assurance

9 The scope of the criteria, its international recognition and use, make the criteria a useful benchmark for this consideration of the Jordanian student journey. It also complements the consideration of the student journey by focusing on the application of standards across an institution and how an institution meets these standards to ensure the quality of the provision. Students are a key part of the standards.

⁷ Education for Prosperity: Delivering Results - A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025, p 4

⁸ Ibid, p 32

⁹ ESG 2015 Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area, p6

¹⁰ Ibid, p 6

¹¹ Ibid, p 6

¹² Ibid, p 6

¹³ <u>https://enqa.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ESG_2015.pdf</u>

10 The scope of the criteria, its international recognition and use, make the criteria a useful benchmark for this consideration of the Jordanian student journey. It also complements the consideration of the student journey by focusing on the application of standards across an institution and how an institution meets these standards to ensure the quality of the provision. Students are a key part of the standards.

Methodology

11 This study is informed by qualitative research including desk-based sources such as reports, articles and web-based materials. Further qualitative information was gained from face-to-face meetings held with key stakeholder groups including Ministry bodies such as the national quality authority - Accreditation and Quality Assurance Commission for Higher Education Institutions (AQACHEI) - university staff, students, industry representatives, local professional bodies and recent graduates, some of whom were in employment. A full description of the methodology and the programme are included in the Appendix.

Background and context

Jordan is a small country with a growing population of graduates. It is considered an emerging knowledge economy, having relatively high education and literacy rates when compared with other countries in the region with similar incomes.¹⁴

Key features:

- Jordan's demographic trend is towards a younger population, with almost 70% of the population currently under the age of 30.¹⁵ This has increased the demand for higher education.
- Just over 80% of the country's currently employed workforce is educated to a minimum of secondary school diploma, 40% is educated to bachelor degree level.¹⁶
- Growth in the highly educated youth population is also adding to the high levels of unemployment in the country. The overall level of unemployment reported for 2018 stood at 15.3%.¹⁷

13 The government is dependent on this group to contribute significantly to the country's economic development. To support this:

- The National Employment Strategy 2011-2020 and The National Strategy for Higher Education and Scientific Research 2007-2012 have been implemented.
- Over the last 20 years there has been a significant drive by the government to invest in and develop the country's higher education sector.
- Jordan [has] adopted a human resource strategy focused on the development of the Technical and Vocational Education and Training sector (TVET). This strategy aims at minimising the gap between the supply and the labour demand. ¹⁸

¹⁴ European Commission, (2017), p 9, *Overview of the Higher Education System: Jordan*, <u>https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/countryfiches_jordan_2017.pdf</u>

¹⁵ British Council (2019), p 2, Education to employment intervention mapping report ¹⁶ Dajani Consulting (2019) *Jordan: education, labour market, migration.* Available at:

www.seo.nl/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Annex_B_Jordan.pdf, p 22

 ¹⁷ H. Plecher, (Mar 27, 2018) Statistica - Jordan - Statistics and Facts, <u>www.statista.com/topics/2438/jordan</u>
 ¹⁸ Dajani Consulting (2019) *Jordan, Education, Labour market, Migration.* Available at: www.seo.nl/uploads/media/Annex B Jordan.pdf, p 21

14 Higher education is seen as a key priority for the country as it contributes to the economic development of human capital within Jordan. To this end, there has been an increased number of higher education institutions being established, including private universities.

15 However, in recent years, the education system has not been delivering the desired outputs in contributing to the reduction in unemployment. The National Committee for Human Resource Development was commissioned by His Majesty King Abdullah II 'to investigate the evidence and the root causes for this, and to develop 'an integrated, comprehensive, strategic and well-defined system for human resource development.'¹⁹ This has resulted in the *Education for Prosperity: Delivering Results - A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025* (HRD).

16 The HRD aims to develop an integrated educational system which 'invests in our citizen's education and training to create a generation of forward-looking young people who are equipped with the skills necessary to analyse, innovate and excel.²⁰

17 The strategy states that: 'Most of Jordanian Universities' climates are not conducive to positive educational outcomes, as they currently do not encourage students and faculty to modernize teaching and learning processes, engage in open dialogue, exchange new ideas or foster critical thinking.'

18 It sets the context for change including areas relating to the student journey such as admissions, preparedness for university, quality assurance, teaching and learning, programmes, resources and the 'gaps...between educational outputs and the labour market.'²¹

19 In summary, Jordan has high rates of unemployed graduates, an employer perception of graduates with a lack of relevant skills and students studying courses with oversaturated job markets while there is a shortage of skills elsewhere. There is 'a misalignment between student demand for university qualifications and labour market needs, and the poor preparation of students entering the system'.²²

Context for the UK student journey

20 In the UK there is a large higher education sector with a range of different sized institutions working in different contexts - regional, national, international - and with a varied range of courses and a diverse student body. UK higher education institutions are autonomous, independent of government and are not accredited. The vast majority of higher education institutions are public with only a small number of private universities.

- 21 Factors which impact on the higher education landscape in the UK include:
- a government-focused expansion in the number of students attending university (50%)
- a student loan funding system, a fee structure where the tuition fee is the same at nearly all institutions and provides a transparent funding system for institutions
- a market where institutions are able to decide on their student numbers on courses (for instance, no cap on numbers)

¹⁹ Education for Prosperity: Delivering Results - A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025, p 16

²⁰ Ibid, p 4

²¹ Ibid, p 32

²² Ibid, p 177

- collection of data at national level used to develop a number of published league tables and reports on institution performance - this data includes the results of the National Student survey (NSS), Graduate Outcomes Survey and student performance data
- an expectation that graduates will be fit for the workplace at the end of their course in terms of both knowledge and skills.



Figure 1: Factors influencing UK higher education

22 These factors have resulted in the growth of a more competitive sector and led to significant changes in focus in the way universities:

- recruit and interact with potential students before they start
- consider the development of programmes
- consider learning outcomes and graduate attributes
- develop curriculum
- teach and assess students
- train and develop staff.

23 The factors above also link to the mandatory components of the UK Quality Code for Higher Education²³ developed by QAA in consultation with the UK higher education sector and which are designed to align with the European Standards and Guidelines. These Expectations are expressed in terms of outcomes which institutions 'should achieve in setting and maintaining the standards of their awards, and for managing the quality of their provision.'²⁴

²³ <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/quality-code</u>

²⁴ Ibid

Expectations		
Standards	Quality	
The academic standards of courses meet the requirements of the relevant National Qualifications Framework.	Courses are well-designed, provide a high-quality academic experience for all students and enable a student's achievement to be reliably assessed.	
The value of qualifications awarded to students at the point of qualification and over time is in line with sector recognised standards.	From admission through to completion, all students are provided with the support they need to succeed in and benefit from higher education.	

24 These Expectations are linked to Core practices which 'underpin the delivery of the Expectations and result in positive outcomes for students'.²⁵ Core practices are also mandatory and link to key stages in the student journey including admissions, programme quality, course outcomes, course quality, support and achievement.

25 The Code is supported by Advice and Guidance which consists of sector-developed themes, designed to support institutions in developing and maintaining effective quality assurance practices. A significant number of themes that relate specifically to the student journey are shown below.



- 26 Further support and focus for institutions are provided by:
- the Qualifications and Credit Framework which provides guidance for institutions on how to use credit when designing programmes leading to higher education gualifications²⁶
- Subject Benchmark Statements which outline what a graduate might be expected to know and do at the end of their studies.²⁷

²⁵ www.qaa.ac.uk/quality-code www.qaa.ac.uk/en/quality-code/qualifications-and-credit-frameworks

²⁷ www.gaa.ac.uk/en/guality-code/subject-benchmark-statements

The UK student journey

27 This section considers the student journey from the perspective of a UK university student, a student studying at a public university in Jordan and a student studying at a private university in Jordan. While it may give an overall picture of the sector, it is unlikely to be representative of all students or institutions particularly since the study involved only four universities in Jordan - two private and two public.

Stages of the student journey

28 In terms of the student journey, four transition stages have been identified as below. In the UK, these stages have become key to the increasingly competitive UK market and feed into the various national surveys which contribute to the development of league tables and rankings. All also link to the mandatory requirements of the UK Quality Code for Higher Education (the Quality Code).

Figure 1: Stages of transition through the student life cycle



(adapted from Bates and Hayes, 2017)

29 The diagram below identifies the key touchpoints and factors in the UK student journey at the four stages. Underneath this is a brief description of these and the impact on the student. The descriptions include reference to best practice.

Figure 2: Key touchpoints in the UK student journey

Transition towards higher education: Pre-arrival and admission

- Engagement by universities with schools and colleges:
 - institutions visit schools
 - schools visit institutions
 - university/school liaison roles
- Careers staff in schools
- Access to online information
- Personal influences
- Open days
- Application through UCAS
- Engagement by universities with applicants

Transition to higher education: Commencing and preparing to study

- Engagement by universities with new starters/students
- Induction and orientation
- Student support
- Student welfare
- Evaluation



Transition through higher education: The lived experience Progressing through the learning journey

- Programme/curriculum design
- Qualifications framework
- Learning outcomes
- Teaching and learning
- Assessment

•

•

•

- Learning resources
- Student support
- Work placements

Transition out of higher education: Graduation and employability

- Engagement by universities in preparing students for employment
- Employer engagement
- Graduation and graduate attributes
- Alumni

Pre-arrival and admissions

Engagement by universities with schools, colleges and	Students at school are visited by individual universities and visit individual universities with their schools on local engagement days as part of an outreach programme organised by universities. Engagement days include tours of campus and facilities, overview of provision, benefits of studying at higher education and interactive workshops. Students may meet liaison officers from different
mentor schemes	universities.
	Students and parents may also have the opportunity to attend recruitment fairs at their schools/colleges at which a number of universities attend and have stands and recruitment materials.
Schools and careers advice	Students can access careers teams in schools and teaching staff for advice on what to study, where, job prospects. Students and parents are invited to talks from universities, employers and subject specialists.
Access to online information	Students and parents can access a range of online information including university websites, UCAS, ²⁸ university league ranking tables, National Student Surveys (NSS), ²⁹ Teaching Excellence Framework (TEF), ³⁰ student and parent forums.
	League table data includes key performance indicators relating to numbers of students, staff/student ratio, teaching and learning strategy, contact hours, student performance and progression, grades of award, student services, student support and welfare, and employability and career information after graduation.
Open days	Students and parents attend open days for as many universities as they wish.
	Open days include tours of campus and facilities, as well as information sessions about the university, the range of courses, entry requirements, the staff, curriculum, approaches to studying at higher education, accommodation, student support, welfare, sports and social activities and key performance indicators as outlined above.
	Enrolment for open days is online and students will then receive further correspondence after the visit.
Personal influences	Students may receive advice on what and where to study from parents and other family members, friends, peers and professionals/employers. Students may be guided by these or may be free to make their own choice.

 ²⁸ University and Colleges Admissions Service: <u>www.ucas.com</u>
 ²⁹ National Student Survey: <u>www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/student-information-and-data/national-student-survey-nss/get-the-nss-data/</u>
 ³⁰ Teaching Excellence Framework: <u>www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/teaching/about-the-tef</u>



Engagement by universities	Applicants receive information about the courses for which they have an offer, and further information about their course, accommodation, support via a number of communications from the university.
with applicants	Applicants may be invited to applicant days at the prospective universities where they have accepted offers. These days contain specific sessions relating to the course, curriculum and may contain taster sessions, meetings with tutors, meeting other offer holders as well as further information about student support, welfare, accommodation and student life.
	Applicants receive decisions through UCAS and consider which institution to accept as a firm acceptance and which as provisional (the latter is usually a back-up choice). Applicants reject other offers.

Transition to higher education - Commencing and preparing to study

Engagement by universities	Confirmed applicants receive regular communications from the universities prior to and post examination results when students confirm their final acceptance through UCAS. The communications are designed to give information and help students prepare for their arrival. This will include further information about accommodation (types, social group - for example, quiet, gender) students' union, sports and societies, living on campus, studying on campus.				
with new students					ccommodation (types,
	Students may also be able to join social media groups to make contact with peers (for example, by course or accommodation).				
	They will also receive information regarding the course, reading lists, potential timetables and induction programmes before they arrive on their first day.				
	Figure 4: Example	of commun	ication befor	re arrival ³¹	
	Essential tasks	Read emails from university	Advisable tasks	Apply for accomm- odation	
		Apply for University Card		Decide what to bring	
		Activate your IT account		Register for wifi	
		Download app		Register with health centre	
		Add key dates to calendar		Get to know university services	

³¹ Adapted from: <u>www.exeter.ac.uk/newstudents/beforeyouarrive</u>

Induction and orientation	All new students receive an institutional induction and orientation which usually takes place up to a week before returning students recommence their studies (known as Freshers' week). This allows new students to acclimatise to the institution, become familiar with their surroundings and meet new people. They will also go on tours of the campus including sports facilities, and receive information about registration, sports and social clubs and activities, support for accommodation, health, welfare, finance and finding work.
Student academic support	New students also have an orientation to their programme of study. The academic orientation covers areas such as programme learning outcomes, overview of content, approach to teaching, guidance on studying, overview on assessment.
	It introduces students to the academic regulations and the resources available. This is supported by access to a variety of documentation (online) such as handbooks ³² for the course, regulations. Handbooks are structured using university guidelines. ³³
	Students will also meet their personal tutors/advisors. Events may be organised for course groups to work together on mini projects or to go on course trips/events during this first part of the course. This helps students gain more awareness of their course, peers and tutors.
	Figure 5: Components of an academic induction ³⁴
	Welcome to the department Employablity session Academic induction
	Assessment and feedback Curriculum session

 ³² www.southampton.ac.uk/~assets/doc/student-services/BEng_MEng_Aeronautics_Astronautics_Handbook.pdf
 ³³ www.uos.ac.uk/sites/default/files/course-handbook-guide.pdf
 ³⁴ https://socialsciences.exeter.ac.uk/law/newstudents/newundergraduates/academic_induction

Student support and welfare	Students may also be supported in other ways beyond the first week induction. For example, they may be paired with a 'buddy' - a returning student volunteer who acts as a mentor and support during the first few weeks of the term, or they may be supported by student accommodation wardens. In addition, students are introduced to a range of student services (medical centre, accommodation, special educational needs, students' union) over the first half term to help create a sense of support and belonging and reduce feelings of loneliness and isolation.
Evaluation	Students are asked to formally give feedback on the induction and orientation they received through online evaluation surveys or face-to-face focus groups. The results of this form part of the institution's monitoring and supports retention and progression.

Transition through higher education The lived experience - progressing through the learning journey

Programme design	Course are designed and approved taking into consideration the whole student learning experience. The structure of the learning experience is considered - the way in which progression of learning is accounted for in terms of development of skills (study and soft) and development of knowledge of subject material. It ensures that appropriate assessment of learning takes place. It has been developed by contributions from internal and external stakeholders including academics delivering the programme, students, employers and industry professionals and external academics from other institutions. It may include contributions from professional, statutory and regulatory bodies (PSRBs).
Qualifications framework	The programme of study should also be consistent with the National Qualifications Framework and should be designed to provide a high-quality academic experience relevant to the student and potential employers. Internal guidance and external reference points such as the UK Quality Code are used in the process of programme design, development and approval and in the development of course content.
Learning outcomes	Students are studying a programme which has been mapped to learning outcomes, made accessible to them to help their understanding of the course and individual components and the relationship between learning outcomes and assessment. Students are made aware of the links between the learning outcomes of individual components of their programme, and assessment.

Teaching and learning	Students receive a more student-centred approach to teaching and learning than previously found in many higher education institutions with a variety of teaching methods and approaches being used. They attend lectures, seminars and tutorial groups and are encouraged to participate more and work in a number of ways including group work, presentations. Their programme includes development of academic and soft skills (communication, IT, time management) as part of their academic credits. It also includes an employability component to enable them to develop work-based skills. Many of their lecturers have undergone formal in job-training in aspects of classroom-based skills (management, use of resources) achieving a certificate qualification (for example, Postgraduate Certificate in Higher Education). Students have access to virtual learning environments to support their studies with online materials, recordings of sessions and discussion forums. Figure 6: Skills development Time management solving Self management
Learning environment and resources	Students are taught in a variety of locations (on and off campus). They have access to appropriate physical resources for specialist courses (for example, laboratories, studios). Learning resources are physically available in libraries as well as online.
Work-based learning/work placements/ internships	Learning may also take place in work-related settings (for example, offices, factories, hotels) for parts of some courses (placement years, semesters or weeks, internships, volunteering) for which students receive academic credit. These settings and hosts are managed by teams in the universities and students, academics and employers have clear guidelines about the scope of work-based learning undertaken, their roles, responsibilities and assessments. ³⁵

³⁵ www.swansea.ac.uk/media/Mentor_Handbook.pdf

Assessment	Student assessments are linked to programme and module learning outcomes and they are asked to complete a range of assessment types depending on the course, for example, coursework, presentations, case studies, portfolios, digital projects as well as examinations. The assessment briefs they receive give clear outlines of the tasks, guidance on content, submission arrangements and clear published assessment criteria linked to the module/course outcomes. The assessed work is moderated internally (for example, by a second marker) and externally moderated (by external examiners) prior to mark approval at an examination board. External examiners are involved in the approval process of assessments prior to publication and the moderation of the submitted work. For some courses external examiners may be from industry or have industry experience. Figure 7: Learning outcomes and assessment Knowledge Skills Assessment tasks Contention Criteria
Student support	Students receive academic support throughout their studies from personal/academic tutors, study skills and achievement tutors, library and IT staff as well as student mentors. They also receive pastoral support from student services (for example, accommodation, medical, special educational needs, finance, legal advice and support, jobs, careers).
Student representation	Students are encouraged to participate and contribute to their programmes through, for example, the selection of student representatives selected at course, programme and department level. They are able to be part of a committee structure and a key component of the institution's quality assurance process.

Evaluation	Students are asked to give feedback on their experience annually. This may be at module level and course level. Feedback may be through online evaluation surveys or face-to-face focus groups and formally through the student representation process. Final-year students are encouraged to participate in the National Student Survey (NSS). The survey covers the following core aspects of the student experience: teaching learning opportunities assessment and feedback academic support organisation and management learning community student voice students' union. Optional sections are available for institutions to choose to be included. Areas include: personal development careers work placements
	 course delivery student services.
	Within each section there are a number of core questions for students to answer. Examples are shown below.
	 Sample questions from the NSS The teaching on my course: Staff are good at explaining things. Staff have made the subject interesting. The course is intellectually interesting. My course has challenged me to achieve my best work. Careers: I believe I have improved my career prospects. Good advice is available for making career choices. Good advice is available on further study opportunities.
	The results of the NSS are a key component of the quality assurance process nationally. The NSS feeds into the surveys and data used to compile league tables and is used by prospective students and parents. With its focus on the whole student experience, it provides potential students, parents and institutions with a significant amount of information. 'In England, all providers registered with and regulated by the OfS will be expected to participate in the NSS as an ongoing condition of registration.' ³⁶

³⁶ www.officeforstudents.org.uk/media/b8c6c8bb-e527-455c-b19d-6da11b4ac9f5/nss-2020-launch.pdf

Transition out of higher education: Graduation and employability

Engagement by universities in preparing students for employment	 From the first year, students have the opportunity to develop soft skills such as communication skills, time-management, team-working, investigative skills and problem-solving as well as the development of skills to support independent learning. These are embedded throughout the programme.³⁷ These skills often form part of their course in modules and credited assessment work. These are included in the learning outcomes of modules related to study and employability skills. They also have the opportunity to develop more specific employability skills in their subject area where this is relevant (for example, lab-based work, events management, media, advertising, law). These may link to placement work, internship or volunteering and may have work-based outcomes. Students also have support in developing a curriculum vitae (CV), preparing for interviews, identifying potential areas of interest career-wise as well accessing employment-related resources. Final-year students may have access to career mentors (from an identified relevant service or industry) to provide support, feedback and guidance on CV development as well as offer work placement days to gain experience and insight. Students may also participate in volunteering and community projects established and recognised as part of the students' union (sometimes with academic credit) to encourage take up of opportunities and development of skills.
	Figure 8: Embedded employability offer University of York ³⁸ Year 1 •Self awareness •Journey begin it •Exploring options •Exploring options •Experience bank it
	•Making choices •Job land it

 ³⁷ www.advance-he.ac.uk/knowledge-hub/framework-embedding-employability-higher-education
 ³⁸ https://corporate.jobteaser.com/en/blog/inspiring-the-new-generation/counsel/university-york-optimises-student-journey



Graduate attribu	ites ³⁹ are:		
descriptive of what it means to be a graduate of a higher education institution - not just in terms of skills and abilities, but also in terms of attitudes and approaches - how you approach learning and knowledge, your own development, and the world around you		st in rms of	skills, abilities and attributes that mean different things in different contexts and disciplines
might identify s want our studer have their own experiences in	to every student – yes work ome common areas that onts to develop, but studer starting points, progress these areas while at the h will shape them as indiv	we hts will and	they are not simply taught but developed through meaningful experiences and the processes of learning and reflection
Sample graduat	te attributes one40		Sample graduate attributes two ⁴¹
	adaptability nunication	F C P C	Academic literacy Research literacy Critical self-awareness and ersonal literacy Digital and information literacy Active citizenship
lumni	part of the alumni suppo	ort. This may	n their university after graduating as involve them becoming ambassadors /ability) and to support any fundraising
Students will be encouraged by their university to contribute to a nation survey on graduate employment which feeds into the KPIs used to devigraduate performance data and university league tables. ⁴²		ch feeds into the KPIs used to develop	

 ³⁹ www.ed.ac.uk/graduate-attributes/what
 ⁴⁰ www.cardiffmet.ac.uk/jobs/Documents/GraduateAttributes.pdf
 ⁴¹ www.brookes.ac.uk/staff/academic/academic-advising/academic-advising-in-practice/developing-graduate-attributes/
 ⁴² www.graduateoutcomes.ac.uk

Context for the Jordanian student journey

30 In Jordan there are 39 universities - 10 public, 16 private, two on special law, one regional, and 10 university colleges. This exploratory study involved four universities - two private and two public. The responses from stakeholders suggested that the experience of the student learner journey at a private university and a public one is different so where the journeys are significantly different, the differences are outlined and described below.

Factors which impact on the higher education context in Jordan include:

- a government focus on creating a fairer and more equitable system of admissions in higher education
- the growth of private universities
- a national centralised admissions policy and criteria approved by the Ministry of Higher Education
- an upper limit on the number of students universities can accept on programmes
- different processes for applying to a private or public university and decision making on offers
- a high level of graduate unemployment in some sectors
- mandatory institution and programme accreditation through AQACHEI
- non-mandatory adherence to a quality assurance process/code
- approval of the Jordan National Qualification Framework (JNQF) managed and overseen by AQACHEI.
- the publication of the HRD strategy and reference to the higher education sector.

Figure 10: Factors influencing higher education in Jordan



The context shows a number of positive initiatives such as the development of the JNQF and mandatory institution and programme accreditation. As shown above, AQACHEI is responsible for programme and institution accreditation. To further strengthen accreditation, in 2018, AQACHEI introduced a two-stage programme accreditation process: initial accreditation being the first stage which is quantity-based; and the final accreditation after two years, which is quality-based. It is planned that this two-stage process will be a legislative and consequently mandatory requirement for all programmes from January 2021. AQACHEI is also responsible for ranking the institutions as well as being the regulator for quality assurance.

However, there are factors which may prevent progress taking place at the speed hoped for. For example, while institution, programme accreditation and ranking are mandatory, quality assurance is not, as noted in the HRD.

'Quality assurance measures are not routinely enforced to ensure continuous monitoring, evaluation, and enhancement of the system.' ⁴³

This limits the authority of AQACHEI considerably.

32 This different approach to programme accreditation and quality assurance and the absence of enforcement by the regulator, reduces the impact of the quality assurance process and means institutions are under no obligation to comply. Consequently, only a small number of universities are currently following the quality assurance process which affects the student journey as it means a lack of consistency in the standards and quality.

The Jordanian student journey

33 The diagram below identifies the key touchpoints and factors in the Jordanian student journey through both a private and a public university at the four stages. Underneath this is a brief description of these and the impact on the student.



Pre-arrival and admission

	Private universities	Public universities
Engagement by universities with schools, colleges and mentor schemes	Students have no direct engagement with universities while at school or college.	
Schools and careers advice	Students (or parents) have litt providing advice and guidance have some awareness of cert saturated (for example, engin	e while at school. They do ain job markets being
Access to online information and recruitment material	Students and parents can access university websites and brochures and leaflets published by private universities. They can contact marketing and recruitment teams.	Students and parents can access university websites though no promotional materials appear to be available.
Open days	Students and parents can attend open days at private universities to find more information about courses.	Public universities do not have open days so students do not have the opportunity to visit the campus before applying.
Influencers	Students are heavily guided by parents who may choose the course and the institution. Choices tend to be influenced by cultural influences and stereotypes (for example, high achievers applying for courses such as medicine or engineering). Some students may not be interested in the course for which they have applied.	

	Private universities	Public universities
Application	Students apply direct to the institution usually after they have received their scores on the Tawjihi. The scores they achieve are used to determine whether they can attend university, which university they can attend and which course they can study. The type of Tawjihi taken is also a determiner. Private universities are involved in the decision- making process relating to applicants, though they are required to abide by the admissions policy and criteria set by AQACHEI. Decisions on the number of students universities can accept are taken centrally which can influence the decision the applicant may receive. Some students may have to take an entrance test before being accepted. Students receive the decisions made by the universities which are sent directly to applicants.	Students apply through the Unified Admission Coordination Unit and students have no direct contact with the institution. Students typically apply after they have received their scores on the Tawjihi. The scores they achieve are used to determine whether they can attend university, which university they can attend and which course they can study. The type of Tawjihi taken is also a determiner. Students are able to specify preferences for the institution at which they wish to study and the programme. There is no guarantee they will get their choice of institution or programme of study. They can choose up to 30 preferences. Final decisions where applicants are placed are made centrally, not by the institutions. Aside from the applicant's high school certificate grades, other criteria are also considered. For example, special consideration is given for applicants from remote or underprivileged schools (widening access agenda). An exceptions process has quotas allocated to members of the armed forces or Ministry of Education, or staff and employees working at universities. Students are informed of their institution and course just before the start of the semester.

Commencing and preparing to study

	Private universities	Public universities
Engagement by universities with new starters/students	Some communication prior to course start.	No communication until start of semester due to the selection and admission process.
Induction and orientation	Students attend an institutional induction and orientation. Includes a familiarisation of the facilities such as the library, accommodation, transportation, student affairs and careers and jobs office. Students also meet heads of departments and receive their timetables of study.	Some institutional induction and orientation take place although it may not be consistent across institutions. It includes a familiarisation of the facilities such as the library, accommodation, transportation, student affairs. Students also meet heads of departments and receive their timetables of study. Some students may only experience an induction on registration/enrolment. For most students the first day is the first time at the university.
Student support and welfare	Students are supported by administrative staff if required to enrol/register on the programme and supported by student affairs departments or offices. Other support services include academic guidance, counselling, medical and careers guidance. They also receive leaflets and student information outlining support available as well as information about the institution, programmes and alumni.	Students are supported by administrative staff if required to enrol/register on the programme and supported by student affairs departments or offices. Other support services include academic guidance, counselling, medical. There is no specific careers guidance at induction and little exposure to the labour market at the early stage in the journey.

Student academic support	Students meet heads of departments and receive their timetables of study and student handbooks. Other support is available, for example, learning support office for students with additional educational needs and study skills support. There is an Academic Advisor system to help develop talents and capabilities to improve performance and behaviour. There is no specific support for English.	Students receive their timetables and meet staff. There is no specific support for English for students on courses taught in English and some students may not know their course is taught in English
-----------------------------	--	--

The lived experience progressing through the learner journey

	Private universities	Public universities
Programme design	Students are taught from a curriculum which the university has responsibility for designing. There is a clear process for internal development and before development there is consideration of strategic fit, acceptance by AQACHEI, staffing and resourcing. Planning and design are the responsibilities of academic members of faculty with contributions from other academics. Employers are involved in some specific courses but this is not a requirement. Students are not involved.	Students are taught from a curriculum which the university has responsibility for designing. There is a clear process for internal development and before development there is consideration of strategic fit, acceptance by AQACHEI, staffing and resourcing. Planning and design are the responsibilities of academic members of faculty with contributions from other academics. Employers are not involved in the design of programmes or content. The students are not involved either.

	Private universities	Public universities
Learning outcomes	Modules act as building blocks to the whole and there is consistent use of learning outcomes across the programme shown through mapping matrixes.	Modules act as building blocks to the whole and there is consistent use of learning outcomes across the programme shown through mapping matrixes.
	It is not clear how learning outcomes are used at module level or in the delivery of sessions, though some courses are making links.	It is not clear how learning outcomes are used at module level or in the delivery of sessions.
Teaching and learning	Students are taught by staff with high levels of qualifications in their subject area. More expertise is needed in how to develop knowledge and skills particularly for the needs of adult learners.	Students are taught by staff with high levels of qualifications in their subject area. More expertise is needed in how to develop knowledge and skills particularly for the needs of adult learners.
	adult learners. Staff receive some initial staff development to introduce the basics of teaching and assessment - usually limited to one or two days though some institutions may offer more. Students attend lectures, seminars and tutorials. The approach is predominantly teacher-led and tends to focus on theoretical, highly-specific content with not many opportunities for practical work or skills development. On some courses teaching is more practical and participative. In some cases, students do receive more student-led sessions where they can be active contributors. With regard to soft skills - for example, where students are required to problem solve, investigate and propose solutions - these tend to be available as additional options	adult learners. Staff receive some initial staff development to introduce the basics of teaching and assessment - usually limited to one or two days. Focus tends to be on administrative matters rather than pedagogy. Students attend lectures, seminars and tutorials. The approach is predominantly teacher-led and tends to focus on theoretical, highly-specific content with not many opportunities for practical work or skills development. Students do not generally experience learning that reflect real world experiences and settings. With regard to soft skills - for example, where students are required to problem solve, investigate and propose solutions - these tend to be available as additional options and not core parts of the curriculum.

	Private universities	Public universities
	and not core parts of the curriculum, though they may be referred to implicitly in content. Where courses are taught in	Where courses are taught in English, additional support in technical or academic English is generally not available.
	English, additional support in technical or academic English is generally not available.	
Learning resources	Students are taught in campus-t campus). They have access to a for specialist courses (for examp resources are physically in librar	appropriate physical resources ble, laboratories). Learning
Work-based learning	Some work placements/internships are available though it is difficult to find appropriate employers.	Some work placements/internships are available though it is difficult to find appropriate employers.
	Greater clarity is needed in terms of the guidelines regarding the scope of work- based learning undertaken and the roles and responsibilities of the university, the students and the employer.	Greater clarity is needed in terms of the guidelines regarding the scope of work- based learning undertaken and the roles and responsibilities of the university, the students and the employer.
	Assessments are not generally aligned with the nature of the work/internship, though some project work has been introduced to close the gap.	Assessments are not generally aligned with the nature of the work/internship.
Assessment	Assessment strategy forms part of the programme design process. Students are assessed primarily through examinations.	Assessment strategy forms part of the programme design process. Students are assessed primarily through examinations.
	Assessments tend to focus on assessing knowledge and theory but not skills and do not refer explicitly to learning outcomes, though this is now being considered.	Assessments tend to focus on assessing knowledge and theory but not skills and do not refer explicitly to learning outcomes.
	Students' work is assessed internally but there is no moderation by external examiners.	Students' work is assessed internally but there is no moderation by external examiners.

	Private universities	Public universities
Student support	Students receive academic supp from personal/academic tutors, s tutors, library and IT staff as wel receive pastoral support from stu accommodation, medical, specia legal advice and support, jobs, c	study skills and achievement I as student mentors. They also udent services (for example, al educational needs, finance,
Student representation	Students are represented formally via a student representation system and may be involved in the university committee structure.	Students are not generally represented formally via a student representation system or involved in the university committee structure or other aspects of the quality assurance process.
Evaluation	Students are asked to formally give feedback on their experience on a regular basis and at the end of their course to the institution. The competency test is intended to evaluate the performance of an institution and its ranking.	Students are asked to formally give feedback on their experience at the end of their course to the institution. The competency test is intended to evaluate the performance of an institution and its ranking.

Graduation and employability

Engagement by universities in preparing students for employment	The development of careers guidance officers through initiatives such as the King Abdulla Fund for Development (KAFD) has enabled universities to offer careers support and advice. This could be utilised more effectively and given more prominence to engage students, staff and employers more.
	Academic staff may be expected to provide careers guidance but may not have the training, knowledge or skills needed. New initiatives are being developed to support career planning and students can attend annual open days and events at specially organised careers weeks in some institutions.
	Students can access support from year one and throughout, culminating in preparation of CVs, writing applications and cover letters.
	Students can attend workshops providing training of key skills such as time management, communication and organisation skills, though students may not be aware of these as they are outside their course programme. These may be offered at different stages of the course. Private universities tend to have activities available early on.
	Students are encouraged to participate in student activities and clubs and other extra-curricular activities provided by advisors and the Students' Union (SU). In some institutions, the SU supports and promotes volunteering opportunities.

	The recent development of the JNQF provides level descriptors to inform students and employers of the value of the qualifications awarded and their relevance to the workplace in terms of knowledge. These could be further supported by the development of a graduate attributes' framework which currently does not exist to identify what specific skills and knowledge a graduate might have by the end of their course.
Employer engagement	Some students can take internships within university departments and business development support. Most of the opportunities are not credit bearing and are seen as 'add-ons'. They are not embedded in the curriculum so engagement is dependent on the student. Some students experienced difficulties being placed on relevant internships and placements.
Alumni	Some alumni associations have been developed and alumni are used to meet current students and talk about employability opportunities.
Graduation	Students receive a certification of qualification and attend a graduation ceremony.
Competency test	Students are required to complete a competency test designed to show the performance of the institution. The relationship between the test and the course they have studied is not clear. It appears to be a tool for evaluating performance of a university and is used to inform the rankings.

Gap analysis/Comparison of the Jordanian learner journey and the UK learner journey

34 The diagrams on the next pages compare the student experiences of each stage of the student journey and highlight where there are gaps. The impact of these gaps is outlined in the points that follow each stage of the journey. These are followed by visuals to support enhancement.

Transition towards higher education: Pre-arrival and admission gap analysis

UK student journey


Impact on the student journey

- The lack of engagement with universities prior to admissions, and the limited information about careers and the jobs market mean students and parents have limited access to impartial information.
- There is minimum consideration of the job market at this stage due to the lack of information.
- This lack of choice and information may also mean students choose courses they may not be interested in or wish to study as they may not be aware of alternatives.
- Parents are a significant voice in the decision-making, but they also have limited access to information and consequently rely on word of mouth, reputation and public opinion and recommend courses which carry cultural and social status when advising their children.
- Public schools may offer limited careers advice, but it is not clear how this is structured or links to universities or institutions which can provide information on labour trends.
- The centralised application and admissions process may disincentivise universities from becoming involved at this stage of the student journey.
- This may also mean universities have no need to engage with schools or students to recruit. This impacts on the culture of the universities and the relationship with, and perception of, the student and hinders change.
- The limited engagement with the universities means students may not be clear what to expect from a course, or the qualities or requirements of different institutions.
- While private universities do receive direct applications, the central capping on student numbers may mean they may not feel the need to engage with potential applicants at this stage.

Figure 11



Informed university decision making

Transition to higher education: Commencing and preparing to study gap analysis

UK student journey



There is a (short) induction including a tour of the campus and facilities. Induction may include introduction to support services (eg finance, accommodation, welfare) though I may need to ask for this information.

Induction may include introduction to learning support (eg study skills, resources), though I may need to ask for this information.

Induction may include a short introduction to course timetable, resources and academic support.

Jordan private university student journey (AI-Ahliyya Amman University and Princess Sumaya University for Technology)

I am expected to attend a
managed planned induction
and orientation of several
days, this includes a tour of
the campus and facilities.

Induction includes introduction to support services (eg finance, accommodation, welfare).

Induction includes introduction to employment, placement and careers guidance. Induction includes introduction to learning and academic support (eg study skills, resources). Induction includes introduction to course outcomes, timetable, modules and resources.

Impact on the student journey

- Not having a relationship with students before they arrive means there is a missed opportunity to engage students in the university, the course and all aspects of university life.
- Consequently, there may be little contact with key staff and other new students which could potentially help reassure applicants before they start.
- A good orientation is seen as a key component of engaging students, encouraging them and supporting them as they start their university life.
- A full, planned and managed induction give institutions an opportunity to develop a relationship with students, build trust and provide reassurance and support at what can be a stressful time. Not using this time means students can feel disengaged and disconnected from their course and this can impact on retention.
- The inconsistent approach to induction across the sector means some students may be disadvantaged at the start of their university life.
- Induction needs to include all aspects of student life including careers and employment as this reinforces that these are an important part of the university course.
- Developing induction workshops which are student centred help to engage students, encourage participation and build confidence.



Figure 12: Components of an induction programme

Transition through higher education: Progressing through the learning journey gap analysis

UK student journey

Programme Work-based Employers and learning outcomes My university has Teaching is student centred, learning. I can give feedback students have been are referred to in published graduate practical and participative and internships or on my course and involved in the atributes which the course am able to develop skills and placements are there is a student development of the documents. show me the knowledge. Staff are credit-bearing representative who programme and sessions and in knowledge. components which knowledgeable and have curriculum and attends university assessment tasks qualities and skills I teaching skills, feedback from means I learn work meetings. there is a link to and critieria so I need to develop on academics and industry. skills which count employers. know why I am the course. towards my course. studving.

Jordan public university student journey (Hashemite University and University of Jordan)

My course has primarily been developed by academics. There may not be any links with industry. The programme is approved by AQACHEI and MOHESR.

Programmes may include some work-based learning, internships or soft skills but these may not be core components of the course or be credit bearing so do not seem important.

There are learning outcomes and learning objectives but these focus on knowledge. Outcomes don't link to assessment (mainly exams) so I'm not sure why I am doing them.

Teaching and learning is mainly lecture based so I don't have the opportunity to participate very much or practise any skills. Teachers are knowledgeable but may not have good teaching skills or know how to engage students.

I can give feedback on mv course through evaluations.

take the National Competency Exam.

Jordan private university student journey (Al-Ahliyya Amman University and Princess Sumaya University for Technology)

My course has been developed by academics. Industry may be involved. There may be links between programme outcomes and employablity and industry. Programme accreditation/approval is by AQACHEI and MOHESR.

Programmes may include some work-based learning. internships or soft skills but these may not be explicit. Some courses are project based.

Focus is on learning outcomes and learning objectives and measuring these through direct and indirect assessment. Assessments are not all exams. I take the National Competency Exam.

I am able to contribute in some sessions and practise skills. Teachers are knowledgeable and encourage participation.

I can give feedback on my modules and course regularly. There is a student representation process. I take the National Competency Exam.

Impact on the student journey

- The lack of requirement for programme development to include contribution from employers and industry representatives can result in development of knowledge-based courses with little reference to employability or soft skills. This can result in the gap employers identified in graduates.
- The lack of explicit reference in learning outcomes to soft skills means these skills are not highlighted to learners, suggesting they may not be noticed or they are not important.
- Learning outcomes should be referred to when developing assessment tasks and criteria. This reinforces the relationship between the curriculum and assessment and helps the learner understand the relevance and requirements of assessments. The National Competency Exam does not link to the course or learning outcomes.
- Overreliance on examination-based assessments and a focus on knowledge rather than skills may result in students having little opportunity to practise skills and be assessed in a meaningful way. This restricts potential opportunities for the development of real-life tasks linking to the workplace.
- A wider range of assessment tasks and types gives students opportunities to develop skills such as teamwork and presentations as well as to do more project-based tasks to prepare them for the workplace.
- The lack of clarity with regard to roles and responsibilities in placement and internship activities may result in opportunities to make these meaningful and developmental are lost.
- A focus on knowledge when employing academics and a tendency to deliver sessions in traditional modes such as lectures means students may have little opportunity to participate and develop real-world skills.
- The lack of staff development in practical teaching skills may result in lower quality teaching which can affect student engagement and learning.

Figure 13: Relationship between programme development and outcomes

Employers, students and academics develop programme



Level, subject descriptors lead to learning outcomes including knowledge and skills



Learning outcomes embedded in module delivery, assessment tasks and criteria

Transition out of higher education: Graduation and employability gap analysis

UK student journey

officer.



Impact on the student journey

- The inconsistent approach to the development of skills for the workplace impacts on the student journey and could affect employability prospects.
- Employability could be integrated into programmes and specific modules from the very start of the course to highlight the importance to students and to ensure careers guidance is embedded in the course.
- The lack of a graduate attributes framework in institutions means the importance of developmental graduate-level skills required by employers is not considered in programme development and delivery.
- This results in soft skills being seen as 'add-ons' and not as an integral part of the course.
- Not making skills a key part of programme development, delivery, content and assessment means students do not have the opportunity to prepare for the workplace and develop the skills employers need.
- Currently there is a lack of incentive for universities to embed skills and work opportunities when developing courses which results in the perception that they are not important.

Figure 14: Key components to support employability



Recommendations

Through an analysis of data and information, both as a desk-based exercise then during a set of site visits, the authors have been able to compare the approach of UK institutions against the approach of Jordanian institutions to a series of common transition stages.

This gap analysis has identified a number of areas where relevant stakeholders might take action to better align the local higher education landscape with ESG criteria. Alignment has also been made with the Human Resource Development Strategy (HRD) where appropriate. Recommendations align with the stages of the student journey and then consider the regulatory framework. Colours are used to indicate short-term (blue), mediumterm (green), long-term (red). These are based on the level of notice and preparation for change. AQACHEI has a key role to play in the implementation of the recommendations, as do universities working in collaboration.

Transition towards higher education: Pre-arrival and admissions

Negative impact:

A Limited access to information about university courses and the job market results in impartial information and a reliance on other non-data-based influences. Students have little or no relationship with universities prior to the start of their course or after their examination results

Action	Stakeholders	ESG standard	HRD goal	Potential impact
1 Encourage public universities to develop course prospectuses and make these available on websites and in published form as required. Private universities already have some materials mainly for the international market and could support this.	AQACHEI and universities	1.8	HE 1.1 HE 1.3	Start to enable parents and students to consider choices based on more information. Starts to build a culture within particular public universities of promoting their offering to potential students and engaging with them prior to arrival.
2 Work with public universities to help them establish links with schools, provide outreach activities at schools and offer open days, and ensure parents are involved. Advise and develop guidance on what open days might involve and use the experiences of private universities to support this.	AQACHEI and universities	1.8	HE 1.1 HE 1.3	Developing programmes where students interact with universities while still at school will help students gain an understanding of university study and life, potentially increasing their knowledge to help inform their decisions.

B Negative impact

Public universities have no involvement in the decision-making process at application stage. This lack of engagement at the start of the student journey misses an opportunity to start to engage with prospective students and build up a potential relationship with them. This has a negative impact on the students in terms of preparing them for university study and may create a culture within the universities themselves that it is not their role to be involved at this stage.

Action	Stakeholders	ESG standard	HRD goal	Potential impact
4 Involve public universities in the selection of applicants allowing them to take ownership of and accountability for students at the start of their journey.	Ministry of Higher Education	1.4	HE 1.1	Along with open days, this starts the engagement with students before their first day at university, helping develop relationships and involving staff prior to the students' arrival. This may also help universities consider their approach to recruitment, particularly for oversubscribed courses, and enable them to suggest to students alternative courses. It may enable and encourage them to develop a strategy for capping numbers on courses.

Transition to higher education: Commencing and preparing to study

C Negative impact

There is an inconsistent approach to student induction and orientation. This includes the length of induction, the areas covered in induction and the approach taken to delivering induction sessions. A lack of clear relevant information and a failure to start to build relationships with students can have a negative impact on students' confidence and mood, while a failure to understand aspects of the course can affect initial motivation, performance and retention.

Action	Stakeholders	ESG standard	HRD goal	Potential impact
 5 Require all universities to offer an extended induction which is planned and managed. This should include: institutional induction, student services, learning support and an academic induction including employability. This approach may require a review of the structures for the provision of support to students to ensure a consistent and coherent approach and service is offered. 	Universities	1.6	HE 1.1 HE 2.5	A full induction gives students time to acclimatise to their new environment and being away from home. Being given information about key aspects of student life helps them start to manage their student life and develop some independence. It also allows them to start to develop relationships with both staff and other students. Introductions to courses are an opportunity to engage students in programme structures and content, outcomes and highlight the links between these.
6 Students should be asked to evaluate the induction programme to enable the universities to review and enhance the support as well as indicate areas for further work.	Universities	1.1 1.9	HE 2.5	Asking for feedback at this stage highlights that the student voice is important. It may encourage students to develop confidence in being involved in student representation. It enables the universities to review their provision and make changes for future programmes.

7 Build in English language support to help develop academic, technical and professional English and skills.	Universities	1.6	HE 2.5	English proficiency is key to student success and supporting students in acquiring English for specific, professional and academic purposes can help to improve student engagement, performance and workplace opportunities.
--	--------------	-----	--------	---

Transition through higher education: Progressing through the learning journey

D Negative impact

The lack of involvement with employers in programme development, curriculum and assessment design can result in the development of knowledge-based courses with little reference to employability or soft skills. Failure to include these explicitly in learning outcomes impacts on the opportunities to develop and practise these skills which employers need.

Action	Stakeholders	ESG standard	HRD goal	Potential impact
8 Include engagement with employers and students as key components of programme development as part of the programme accreditation process.	AQACHEI Universities	1.2	HE 2.1 HE 2.2 HE 2.3	Employer and student contributions can help make courses relevant to the workplace and reduce the current gap.
9 Involve employers and other stakeholders in the development of learner outcomes, curriculum and assessment and in delivery.	Universities	1.2	HE 2.1 HE 2.2 HE 2.3	This would guide the curriculum design and delivery and indicate the nature of graduate output. It should help to ensure that employability skills - the skills employers need such as communication, problem solving, teamwork, working independently and initiative taking - are incorporated and integrated into the curriculum and learning outcomes and that these skills are recognised and assessed appropriately.

E Negative impact

Learning outcomes are used in programme development and in module documentation but there is no explicit link between outcomes and assessments. This may result in students perceiving a disconnect between what is taught and what is assessed.

Assessment tends to be assessment based with a focus on examinations and content rather than skills and assessment tasks based around these. This misses the opportunity to give students practise in more real-life activities such as projects or presentations for which they could receive academic credit. The National Competency examination is also disconnected from the programme and learning outcomes.

Action	Stakeholders	ESG standard	HRD goal	Potential impact
10 Capacity building in assessment development and equipping staff with a range of assessment tools to enable staff to develop assessments which demonstrate skills and abilities as well as knowledge.	Universities	1.3 1.5 1.6	HE 2.3 HE 2.5	Using a wider range of assessment types and linking them to real life and the workplace gives students the opportunity to develop transferable skills such as report writing, presentations and teamwork.

F Negative impact

A focus on knowledge when employing academics and a lack of focus on development of teaching skills may impact on the quality of the teaching and learning taking place and reduce links to industry and real-world activities.

Action	Stakeholders	ESG standard	HRD goal	Potential impact
11 Universities develop a qualification in teaching at higher education to equip teaching staff with a range of teaching skills and strategies and pedagogy to enable them to take a more creative approach to curriculum and learning design and delivery.	Universities	1.3 1.5	HE 2.3 HE 2.5	Developing teaching skills to support teacher knowledge can help with engagement of students and encourage active participation and development.
12 Universities review staff development and implement approaches to allow academic staff to build networks and develop links with industry/employers to pilot	Universities	1.5	HE 2.1 HE 2.2 HE 2.3 HE 2.5	Developing and establishing links could benefit the programme in terms of curriculum, assessment and delivery leading to more explicit reference to the

seconded to or invited to universities to deliver specialist input to students.
--

Transition out of higher education: Graduation and employability

G Negative impact

An inconsistent approach to embedding employability in the curriculum, the lack of a graduate attributes' framework and the inconsistent approach to the development and practice of key skills for the workplace contributes to the perceived gap in graduate performance and employers' requirements.

Action	Stakeholders	ESG	HRD	Potential impact
		standard	goal	
13 Universities to be mandated to fully utilise the potential of the KAFD Careers project, maximising its potential and raising its profile so students, staff and employers are aware of its development.	KAFD Employers	1.2 1.3	HE 2.2 HE 2.3 HE 2.5	The KAFD is already in place in institutions. With more understanding of its role and a raised profile in careers and employability provision in universities, more coherent support across institutions would give students access to more support and guidance. Incorporate a greater emphasis on relationship with employers.
14 AQACHEI to develop with employers and industry and student representatives and the four universities involved in this study, a Graduate Attributes Framework, Subject Benchmark Statements and skills matrixes, and pilot their use in the institutions.	Universities AQACHEI	1.2 1.3	HE 2.2 HE 2.3 HE 2.5	Pilot to support institutions in developing graduate attributes to influence programme development and delivery and bring together key stakeholders.
15 AQACHEI to build on current practice existing by setting up a pilot group of external stakeholders and the four	Universities AQACHEI	1.2 1.3	HE 2.2 HE 2.3 HE 2.5	A 'whole' approach to employability linking to graduate attributes and developed with external stakeholders would help

universities in this study to develop an embedded institutional approach to employability.				institutions understand their role in employability and highlight to students its role in their programme.
16 AQACHEI to set up a partnership collaboration pilot with the four universities that contributed to this study with the aim of establishing a number of pilot projects to enhance employability. These could focus on areas such as careers guidance, employer engagement, volunteering/placements as well as approaches to teaching and learning.	Universities AQACHEI	1.2 1.3	HE 2.2 HE 2.3 HE 2.5	This would also establish a collaborative approach to developing more work focused activities to be included in programmes and encourage the sharing of good practice. It could also help students gain more practical experience.
17 To work with institutions on reviewing labour market information and develop a reliable, robust and accessible dataset.	Ministry of Higher Education and Ministry of Labour	1.7	HE 2.4	To help inform prospective students and other stakeholders about higher education options and increase the information currently available. This would encourage universities to collate and monitor graduate data at specific periods after graduation in order to judge the success of programmes supporting the workforce.

Regulatory Framework

The context for reviewing the Quality Assurance regulatory framework for universities is set out in the HRD strategy:

'Quality assurance measures are not routinely enforced to ensure continuous monitoring, evaluation, and enhancement of the system.' (p18). The recommendations below support the move to mandatory adherence to a regulatory framework for all institutions.

Action	Stakeholders	ESG standard	HRD goal	Potential impact
18 Require all universities to engage with quality assurance policies and processes.	AQACHEI Institutions	1.1	HE 2.1 HE 2.4	Helps develop consistency of national standards and quality across the sector and

				encourage enhancement. Helps develop stakeholder contributions.
19 AQACHEI is recommended to introduce formal training for all experts (reviewers/auditors) involved in accreditation and quality assurance.	AQACHEI	1.1	HE 2.1 HE 2.4	Ensure staff are fully prepared for their role, understand the process and their responsibilities and are able to communicate these to stakeholders.
20 AQACHEI revise the licensing, programme accreditation and quality audit manual to ensure it accurately reflects the context in which it is being used. Confirming the status of the handbook and developing a timeline to allow institutions to prepare for implementation of the mandatory quality assurance process. This would involve setting realistic goals for implementation (e.g. by the end of year 1- meet the minimum requirements and indicated policies are being developed, year 3 - policies are implemented). This would also allow for capacity building and staff training.	AQACHEI	1.1	2.1	Helps ensure that there is a coherent quality assurance process which includes a cycle for continuous improvement and contributes to the accountability of an institution. Helps ensure standards and quality are being consistently met.
21 The Ministry consider introducing a cyclical programme of quality audit that incorporates all providers over a given period of time.	Ministry of Higher Education	1.9	2.3 2.4 2.5	To enable a consistent approach and ensure that institutions monitor and review programmes regularly and adapt to the needs of students and society. This would enable institutions to share good practice and enable AQACHEI to identify and publish themes emerging from audits as well as enable stakeholders to be better informed.





Employment

Next steps

37 As can be seen, the recommendations suggest adopting a collaborative approach to implementation. The development of communities of practice whereby groups of practitioners from different institutions engage with each other to develop a shared meaning and effective practice could bring significant benefits to the higher education sector in Jordan overall, as well as individual institutions, and have a positive impact on the student experience. Developing these communities brings other benefits such as providing a support network, accelerating professional development, breaking down institutional silos and building capability. Asking the four institutions involved in this study to be involved in the development of communities of practice would help ensure a more coherent offer and experience for students and enable the pilot to be monitored and evaluated.

38 The current system for ranking universities is based on a number of criteria including student performance in the competency test. While reviewing and exploring ranking criteria, some thought could be given to including factors such as the development of skills, student support and employability. Extending the indicators would incentivise institutions to consider their approach to these areas and the development of a more student-centred approach. This might be linked to institutional accreditation.

Conclusion

This report has outlined key touchpoints and milestones in the student experience of UK and Jordanian students at both public and private universities and considered these in the contexts of their respective higher education landscapes. It has outlined where the gaps in those experiences are and the impact of these on the student experience and on the success of higher education in fulfilling its role in contributing to Jordan's economic development.

Based on this the authors have proposed a number of recommendations and aligned these to the European Standards and Guidelines (ESG) and to the National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025 where applicable and appropriate. The recommendations aim to support the changes already proposed by the Ministry and help support the work of AQACHEI in managing the regulatory framework across all institutions.

The report indicates that, while there are a number of challenges facing the higher education sector in Jordan, the desire to realign and repurpose policy and processes around the student life cycle is a positive step. This can provide benefit to all stakeholders - students, academic and administrative staff, employers, ministry officials and agencies responsible for higher education. The impetus and vision steered by His Majesty King Abdullah II resulting in the *Education for Prosperity: Delivering Results - A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025* (HRD) has helped the ministry drive change forward. This report recognises the positive steps already taken by the Ministry, particularly the formation of AQACHEI, which has the opportunity to play a key role in the higher education landscape and help develop real effective change.

The alignment of the recommendations with the European Standards and Guidelines (ESG) helps support the desire to gain more international recognition for the sector and provides some clear targets to help support this. Alignment of the recommendations with the HRD also indicates ways in which the sector can help meet the aims for the higher education sector.

The recommendations also aim to support AQACHEI in the creation of an environment involving all stakeholders in the development and delivery of programmes to help ensure

students and parents are informed of their options and institutions create graduates able to meet the needs of the labour market and make a contribution to the economy and country as a whole.

Building on the recommendations will require buy-in from a range of stakeholders and there may be some key challenges to helping capitalise on the initiatives already taken. However, establishing a level playing field where all stakeholders are involved and working together as partners will help support the significant initiatives already taken and move the higher education landscape towards meeting the priorities set out in the HRD.

References

Advance HE (2019) Graduate attributes framework. Available at: <u>www.heacademy.ac.uk/knowledge-hub/graduate-attributes-framework</u> [accessed 27 November 2019]

Advance HE (2020) Framework for embedding employability in higher education. Available at: <u>www.advance-he.ac.uk/knowledge-hub/framework-embedding-employability-higher-education [accessed 13 May 2020]</u>

Advanced HE (2019) <u>www.advance-he.ac.uk</u> [accessed 2 November 2019]

Al-Ahliyya Amman (n.d) University Guide received September 2019

Al-Ahliyya Amman (n.d) University Study Plan for Computer Engineering 2014-15

Al-Ahilyya University (n.d), *Learning Outcomes and Assessment Methodology*. Faculty of Information Technology

Al-Ahliyya Amman University (n.d) Complaints and suggestions procedures.

Al Ahliyya University (September 2019) *Project survey responses*

Barsoum, G, & Mryyan, N, (2014) *Incentives structure and accountability in the Jordanian higher education system.* Working paper 835, The Economic Research Forum. Available at: <u>http://erf.org.eg/publications/incentives-structure-and-accountability-in-the-jordanian-higher-education-system/</u> [accessed 2 November 2019]

Basheer Al-Alak, A M, Al-Zaytoonah, (2009), Measuring and evaluating business student perceptions at public and private universities in Jordan, *Asian Journal of Marketing*. Available at: <u>http://docsdrive.com/pdfs/academicjournals/ajm/2009/33-51.pdf</u> [accessed 1 November 2019]

Bates, L, & Hayes, H (2017) Using the student lifecycle approach to enhance employability: An example from Criminology and Criminal Justice, *Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education, Special Issue, 2017, 18(2), 141-151.* Available at: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1151139.pdf</u> [accessed 6 November 2019]

Biggs, J (1996) Enhancing teaching through constructive alignment. *Higher Education*. Vol32(3) pp 347-364

Brown, R A, Constant, L, Glick, P, & Grant, A K (2014) *Youth in Jordan - transitions from education to employment*, RAND Corporation. Available at: <u>www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR556.html</u> [accessed 9 November 2019]

British Council (2019) Education to employment intervention mapping report

British Council (2019) Higher education system in Jordan

British Council (2019) Road to implementation - Jordan's National Qualifications Framework

Cardiff Metropolitan University (2020) Graduate Attributes. Available at: <u>www.cardiffmet.ac.uk/jobs/Documents/GraduateAttributes.pdf</u> [accessed 20 May 2020]

Center for Accreditation and Quality Assurance (2014) *Manual for provider licensing, programme accreditation and quality audit*

Dajani Consulting (2019) *Jordan: education, labour market, migration.* Available at: <u>www.seo.nl/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Annex_B_Jordan.pdf</u>

Department for Education (2019) *Careers guidance and access for education and training providers*. Available at: <u>www.gov.uk/government/publications/careers-guidance-provision-for-young-people-in-schools</u> [accessed 12 November 2019]

Department for Education (2019) *Careers strategy: making the most of everyone's skills and talents*. Available at <u>www.gov.uk/government/publications/careers-guidance-provision-for-young-people-in-schools</u> [accessed 12 November 2019]

Employability in the Curriculum and Beyond University of Plymouth (Staff development). Available at: <u>www.plymouth.ac.uk/about-us/teaching-and-learning/employability-in-the-</u> <u>curriculum-and-beyond [accessed 20 May 2020]</u>

European Commission (2017) *Overview of the higher education system Jordan*. Available at: <u>https://eacea.ec.europa.eu/sites/eacea-site/files/countryfiches_jordan_2017.pdf</u> Education, Audiovisual and Cultural Executive Agency (EACEA) [accessed 10 Oct 2019]

European Committee of regions (n.d) Division of powers, Jordan – education. Available at: <u>https://portal.cor.europa.eu/divisionpowers/Pages/Jordan-Education.aspx</u> [accessed 10 October 2019]

ESG 2015 European Standards and Guidelines Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area. Available at: <u>https://enqa.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ESG_2015.pdf</u> [accessed 17 March 2020]

Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan - the official site of the Jordanian e-Government (2019) *Open data*. Available at: <u>https://jordan.gov.jo/wps/portal/Home/AboutJordan</u> [accessed 26 September 2019]

Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan, Ministry of Higher Education & Scientific Research (2019) Brief on the Ministry of Higher Education & Scientific Research. Available at: www.mohe.gov.jo/en/pages/BriefMohe2.aspx [accessed 6 November 2019]

Hashemite University (September 2019) Project survey responses

Higher Education Academy, (2010) *Problem based learning: an introduction.* Available at: <u>https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets.creode.advancehe-document-manager/documents/hea/private/pbl_1568036849.pdf [accessed 6 November 2019]</u>

Higher Education Accreditation Commission (2015) *Guide for Quality Assurance Criteria and Procedures at Higher Education Institutions in Jordan*

How the University of York optimises the Student Journey. Available at: <u>https://corporate.jobteaser.com/en/blog/inspiring-the-new-generation/counsel/university-york-optimises-student-journey [accessed 13 May 2020]</u>

Improving the Student Experience (2019). Available at: <u>www.improvingthestudentexperience.com/essential-information/undergraduate-literature/first-year-experience</u> [accessed 8 October] Khader, F (2013) *Strategies and Roadmap for Effective Higher Education in Jordan* Available at <u>www.uop.edu.jo/download/Research/members/111 1548 khad.pdf</u> [accessed 1 November 2019]

Larsen, A., Horvath, D, Bridge, C, (2019) Get Ready: improving the transition experience of a diverse first-year cohort through building student agency, *Student Success*. Advance online publication. doi:10.5204/ssj.v11i3.1144. Available at: https://studentsuccessjournal.org/article/view/1144 [accessed 1 November 2019]

Lumsden, E, Mcbryde-Wilding, H, and Rose, H (2010) Collaborative practice in enhancing the first year student experience in Higher Education *Enhancing the Learner Experience in Higher Education.* 2 (1), 12 - 24. Available at:

<u>www.improvingthestudentexperience.com/library/UG_documents/Lumsden20103462.pdf</u> [accessed 8 October 2019]

Ministry of Higher Education & Scientific Research, Jordan (2009) *Law No. (23), for the year 2009 Law of Higher Education and Scientific Research No. (23), for the year 2009.* Available at:

www.mohe.gov.jo/en/GovPapers/law%20of%20higher%20education%20and%20scientific% 20research%201.pdf [accessed 6 November 2019]

National Committee for Human Resource Development (2016) *Education for Prosperity: Delivering Results - A National Strategy for Human Resource Development 2016-2025.*

National Student Survey: <u>www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/student-information-and-data/national-student-survey-nss/get-the-nss-data</u> [accessed 1 June 2020]

Oxford Brookes University Graduate Attributes <u>www.brookes.ac.uk/staff/academic/academic-advising/academic-advising-in-</u> practice/developing-graduate-attributes [accessed 1 June 2020]

Plecher, H (2018) Jordan - Statistics and Facts. Available at: <u>www.statista.com/topics/2438/jordan</u> [accessed 25 September 2019]

Powell, N (2008) Using Enquiry Based Learning (EBL) to Prepare Students for Group Work: Lessons from successive implementations. *Innovation, Good Practice and Research in Engineering Education* P011

Princess Sumaya University for Technology, (n.d) *Learning Support Office*. Leaflet received September 2019

Princess Sumaya University for Technology, (n.d) *Academic Advising* Leaflet received September 2019

Princess Sumaya University for Technology, (n.d), *Success stories of PSUT Alumni* received September 2019

Princess Sumaya University of Technology (September 2019) Project survey responses

Quality Assurance Agency (2019) *UK Quality Code Advice and Guidance: Admissions, Recruitment and Widening Access.* Available at: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/quality-code/advice-and-</u> <u>guidance</u> [accessed 3 October 2019] Quality Assurance Agency (2019) *UK Quality Code, Advice and Guidance*: *Course Design and Development.* Available at: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/quality-code/advice-and-guidance</u> [accessed 3 October 2019]

Quality Assurance Agency (2019) *UK Quality Code, Advice and Guidance: Assessment.* Available at: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/quality-code/advice-and-guidance</u> [accessed 3 October 2019]

Quality Assurance Agency (2019) *UK Quality Code, Advice and Guidance: Enabling Student Achievement.* Available at: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/quality-code/advice-and-guidance</u> [accessed 2 November 2019]

Quality Assurance Agency (2019) *UK Quality Code, Advice and Guidance*: Work-based *Learning.* Available at: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/quality-code/advice-and-guidance</u> [accessed 3 October 2019]

Quality Assurance Agency (2017) *How universities and employers can work together to improve graduate outcomes: evidence from QAA reviews.* QAA Viewpoint

Quality Assurance Agency (2019) *UK Quality Code: Qualifications and Credit Frameworks* Available at: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/en/quality-code/subject-benchmark-statements</u> [accessed 18 May 2020]

Quality Assurance Agency (2019) *UK Quality Code: Subject Benchmark Statements Frameworks* Available at: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk/en/quality-code/qualifications-and-credit-frameworks</u> [accessed 18 May 2020]

Rich, J, (2015) *Employability: degrees of value*. Hepi Occassional Paper 12. Available at: www.hepi.ac.uk/2015/12/10/employability-degrees-value [accessed 8 November 2019]

Support and promotion for higher education experts (n.d) *Higher education in Jordan* Available at <u>https://supporthere.org/page/higher-education-jordan</u> [accessed 9 October 2019]

Teaching Excellence Framework: [accessed 11 May 2020] www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/teaching/about-the-tef

The Economist Intelligence Unit (2019) *Jordan factsheet*. Available at: <u>http://country.eiu.com/article.aspx?articleid=1078151891&Country=Jordan&topic=Summary</u> &subtopic=Fact+sheet [accessed 3 October 2019]

The Guardian (2020). Available at: www.theguardian.com/education/ng-interactive/2019/jun/07/university-league-tables-2020

The Times (2020). Available at: www.timeshighereducation.com/student/best-universities/best-universities-uk

UK Graduate Outcomes (n.d) Available at: <u>www.graduateoutcomes.ac.uk</u> [accessed 9 October 2019]

Universities and Colleges Admissions Service (UCAS) Available at <u>www.ucas.com</u> [accessed 7 October 2019]

University of Edinburgh Graduate Attributes. Available at: <u>www.ed.ac.uk/graduate-attributes/what [accessed 1 June 2020]</u> University of Exeter - Before you Arrive. Available at: <u>www.exeter.ac.uk/newstudents/beforeyouarrive</u> [accessed 1 June 2020]

University of Exeter - Academic Induction. Available at:

https://socialsciences.exeter.ac.uk/law/newstudents/newundergraduates/academic_inductio_ n [accessed 18 May 2020]

University of Jordan, (n.d). *Programme Outline for Architecture Engineering*. School of Engineering

University of Jordan (n.d) Programme Outline for BSc Civil Engineering

University of Jordan (September 2019) Project survey responses

University of Plymouth: Employability in the Curriculum and Beyond University of Plymouth (Staff development). Available at:

www.plymouth.ac.uk/about-us/teaching-and-learning/employability-in-the-curriculum-andbeyond [accessed 20 May 2020]

University of Southampton Employability Checklist. Available at: <u>https://cdn.southampton.ac.uk/assets/imported/transforms/content-</u> <u>block/UsefulDownloads_Download/501F5650219B4C6F949592F649CB851E/Employability</u> <u>%20Checklist.pdf#_ga=2.184926825.1582586367.1590690045-1479766754.1590690045</u> [accessed 26 May 2020]

University of Southampton Course Handbook Guidelines. Available at: <u>www.uos.ac.uk/sites/default/files/course-handbook-guide.pdf</u>[accessed 26 May 2020]

University of Southampton Handbook. Available at: <u>www.southampton.ac.uk/~assets/doc/student-</u> <u>services/BEng_MEng_Aeronautics_Astronautics_Handbook.pdf</u>[accessed 26 May 2020]

University of Swansea Mentor Handbook. Available at: <u>www.swansea.ac.uk/media/Mentor Handbook.pdf</u>[accessed 1 June 2020]

Westphal, J (2019) *Higher Education in Jordan: opportunities for collaboration*. Universities UK International

Meetings held by the project team 15-18 September 2019

Meeting with employers (2019) Notes of meeting with Jordanian employer representatives 17 September 2019, AQACHEI Offices, Jordan

Meeting with University of Jordan staff (2019) *Notes of meeting with University of Jordan staff 16 September 2019,* University of Jordan, Amman

Meeting with University of Jordan students (2019) *Notes of meeting with University of Jordan students 16 September 2019,* University of Jordan, Amman

Meeting with AI Ahliyya Amman University staff (2019) *Notes of meeting with AI Ahliyya Amman University staff 15 September 2019, AI Ahliyya Amman University As Salt City*

Meeting with Al Ahliyya Amman University students and graduates (2019) *Notes of meeting with Al Ahliyya Amman University students and graduates 15 September 2019,* Al Ahliyya Amman University As Salt City

Meeting with Hasemite University staff and students (2019) *Notes of meeting with Hasemite University staff and students 15 September 2019,* Hasemite University Zarqa City

Meeting with Princess Sumaya University of Technology staff (2019) *Notes of meeting with Princess Sumaya University of Technology staff 16 September 2019*, Princess Sumaya University of Technology, Amman

Meeting with graduates (2019) *Notes of meeting with youth 17 September 2019,* British Council Offices, Amman

Meeting with AQACHEI (2019) Notes of meeting with AQACHEI staff representatives 17 and 18 September 2019, AQACHEI Offices, Jordan

Appendix

Methodology

This project forms part of an exploratory study undertaken to better understand the component parts of the student learner journey in Jordan and focuses on the employability skills and the preparedness of graduates - in particular, the subject areas of engineering and information technology (IT). The study considers the learner journey in both public and private institutions of higher education to identify any key areas of similarity or difference and indeed any good practice that can be shared to enhance the student experience.

This study is informed by qualitative research including desk-based sources such as reports, articles and web-based materials. Further qualitative information was gained from face-to-face meetings held with key stakeholder groups including Ministry bodies such as the national quality authority - Accreditation and Quality Assurance Commission for Higher Education Institutions (AQACHEI) - university staff, students, industry representatives, local professional bodies and recent graduates, some of whom were in employment.

Meetings were held between 15 and 18 September 2019. Four universities were included in the study - two of which were public universities and two that were private - thus enabling a more balanced picture of the student experience to be formed and allowing for comparisons to be made across the sector as a whole. Table 1 lists the universities included in the study and includes the number of enrolled students in 2017-18 (second semester).

University	Region	Public/private	Enrolled no. (2017-18)*
Al Ahliyya Amman University	As Salt City	Private	6,148
Princess Sumaya University of	Amman	Private	2,732
Technology			
Hashemite University	Zarqa City	Public	21,040
University of Jordan	Amman	Public	38,622

Table 1: Universities included in the study

* Data provided by British Council - September 2019

To preserve the confidentiality of individuals and institutions, reference is made to meetings with students or staff and assigned a number in the footnote. The university meetings included academic and administrative staff in senior roles, current students and graduates from three of the four universities and a separate meeting comprising a student and recent graduates. In all cases, universities had included representation from their respective careers offices, which are a relatively new addition to the student support infrastructure in Jordan. Meetings held with students provided insights into their learning journey and overall experience, and how the programme was preparing them for the world of work. All meetings formed a key part of the exploration of the practices, processes and support within the higher education institutions. Meetings held with recent graduates provided further insights into their higher education experiences and, in particular, the skills developed to prepare them for their current employment. Subject areas and disciplines that students and graduates were undertaking or had undertaken are listed in Table 2.

Table 2: Subject areas and disciplines undertaken by students and graduates

Civil Engineering	Architectural Engineering	Computer Science
Software Engineering	Engineering Science	Network Information
		Systems
Mechanical Engineering	Materials Engineering	Network & Security
Bio-medical Engineering	Mechatronics	Medicine
Electrical Engineering		Pharmacy

Meetings held with employers had representatives from: engineering, including the Jordanian Engineers Council, and Associate Consultant Engineers; the Information Technology Association of Jordan (Int@j) Sector Skills Council; Solutions for renewable energy and President for Sector Skills Council for energy and water; Skills for Employment and Social Inclusion Programme (SESIP) for Jordan; and a professional from the financial sector. The discussion provided insights into the skillset that they expected graduates to have, and where there were gaps. Outcomes of the discussion with this group yielded no major surprises as these form common conversations within the higher education sector in the UK also.

A meeting with AQACHEI was also held to understand the accreditation processes in-country, and to understand the role AQACHEI has in the sector and what, if any, oversight it has of the student learner journey within universities and the sector as a whole.

In addition to meetings, universities were asked to complete surveys to provide some background to the areas of exploration within this study. However, the responses lacked in detail and were therefore deemed to be of little additional value to this study.

The approach taken has provided relevant insights into the learner journey, processes and practices in the Jordanian higher education sector. It has further enabled analysis of the qualitative data and triangulation of content. Table 1 provides detail on the higher education institutes involved in the study and contributors at the face-to-face meetings organised by the British Council.

Members of the QAA team have worked in higher education as lecturers and senior managers for several years. They bring an in-depth knowledge and practical experience of the student learner journey and student experience in a UK setting, which this study uses as a benchmark and comparator to further inform and support the recommendations made in this report.

Limitations

In Jordan, there are 39 universities - 10 public, 16 private, two on special law, one regional, and 10 university colleges.⁴⁴ Only four universities (two public and two private) formed part of this exploratory study, and is therefore not statistically significant as the sample size represents only 13% of all universities in the country. Survey responses also provide very limited information and as such lack real value for this study.

The meetings and discussion with various stakeholders provided helpful insights; however, as the visit took place over a short time frame, the team had very limited time to gain any significant depth into the student journey. Each university meeting was scheduled for approximately three hours or less, reducing the time for exploration with individual stakeholder groups, thereby limiting insights and information gathering. On a couple of occasions faculty staff were present in the meeting with students, which also called into question the transparency of the responses given by students. In one case the team were

⁴⁴ British Council (2019) Higher education system in Jordan

able to set up a separate meeting with students which revealed some interesting facts and insights into their experiences as part of their learner journey at the institution.

The meeting with employers provided some valuable insights about the skills, or lack of skills that graduates brought with them and their suggestions of where key gaps exist. However, once again, time was limited to explore more fully the detail with the group. In addition, and perhaps a key limitation of this study, the focus has been on ICT and engineering primarily. This therefore provides only a snapshot of the Jordanian student learner journey.

Despite these limitations the team undertaking this study found a consistency of messages delivered across the stakeholder groups they met. All information gained has been carefully triangulated throughout and therefore the team is confident of its findings as it relates to the student higher education journey in Jordan, and employability outcomes.

© The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education 2021 Southgate House, Southgate Street, Gloucester GL1 1UB Registered charity numbers 1062746 and SC037786

Tel: 01452 557000 Web: <u>www.qaa.ac.uk</u>